
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN  

U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION, 

Plaintiff, 

DELPHI CORPORATION, 
J.T. BATTENBERG, 111,  
ALAN DAWES,  
PAUL FREE,  
JOHN BLAHNIK,  
MILAN BELANS,  
CATHERINE ROZANSKI,  
JUDITH KUDLA,  
SCOT MCDONALD,  
B.N. BAHADUR,  
ATUL PASRICHA,  
LAURA MARION,  
STUART DOYLE and  
KEVIN CURRY,  

Defendants. 

COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the 

"Commission") alleges for its Complaint: 



SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS 

1. This case involves a pattern of federal securities laws violations by 

defendant Delphi Corporation ("Delphi") and certain of its senior officers, 

accounting staff and treasury staff, from 2000 through 2004. During this time, 

Delphi's former Chief Executive Officer J.T. Battenberg, 111, former Chief 

Financial Officer Alan Dawes, former Controller and Chief Accounting Officer 

Paul Free, former Treasurer and Vice President John Blahnik, former Director of 

Capital Planning and Pension Analysis Milan Belans, former Director of Financial 

Accounting and Reporting Catherine Rozanski and Judith Kudla, a former Delphi 

finance director, each engaged in one or more fraudulent accounting or disclosure 

schemes. As a result of these schemes, Delphi materially misstated its financial 

condition and operating results in filings with the Commission, in offering 

documents, and in other statements to investors. 

2. Scot McDonald, a senior accountant with a Texas information 

technology ("IT") company (the "IT Company") and B.N. Bahadur, the principal 

and owner of a Michigan consulting company (the "Consulting Company"), each 

aided and abetted Delphi in separate fraudulent schemes. The other individual 

defendants aided and abetted Delphi in books and records and reporting violations 

associated with certain of the schemes. 



3. First, in the second quarter and full year 2000, Delphi improperly 

accounted for and disclosed an increase in warranty reserves related to warranty 

claims made by its former parent company. Delphi recorded the reserve increase 

as a direct adjustment to retained earnings rather than as an expense. It also 

disclosed the adjustment in an intentionally and materially misleading way that 

suggested, falsely, that the second quarter adjustment primarily related to certain 

pension and other post-employment ("OPEB") matters and failed to disclose 

highly material information concerning the reserve increase and the former parent 

company's warranty claim. Moreover, in the third quarter and full year 2000, 

Delphi improperly accounted for and disclosed a payment that it made to its former 

parent company pursuant to a settlement agreement. Delphi treated the payment as 

if it related primarily to certain pension and OPEB matters, even though Delphi 

knew that the settlement in fact related exclusively to the warranty claims made by 

its former parent company. As a result of these deliberate mischaracterizations, 

Delphi materially overstated its originally reported earnings per share ("EPS") and 

net income for the second and third quarters of and full year 2000. The 

misstatements were reflected in Delphi's Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 

2000, as filed with the Commission on or about July 17,2000, its Form 10-Q for 

the period ended September 30,2000, as filed with the Commission on or about 

October 1 1,2000, and its Form 10-K for the period ended December 3 1,2000, as 



filed with the Commission on or about February 8,2001. Defendants Battenberg, 

Dawes, Free and Belans were responsible for some or all of this fraudulent 

conduct. Defendant Atul Pasricha aided and abetted in the Delphi books and 

records, and reporting violations associated with Delphi's improper accounting for 

the warranty settlement. 

4. Also, in the fourth quarter of 2000, Delphi sold approximately $270 

million of inventory to two third parties while simultaneously agreeing to 

repurchase the inventory in the following quarter for the original sales price, plus 

interest charges and structuring fees. By improperly accounting for the 

transactions as true sales, rather than as financing transactions, Delphi improperly 

recognized a material amount in cash flow from operations and materially 

overstated its reported EPS and net income for the fourth quarter of 2000 and, 

combined with the warranty misstatements, further materially overstated its net 

income for the year 2000. The misstatements were reflected in Delphi's Form 10- 

K for the period ended December 31,2000, as filed with the Commission on or 

about February 8,2001. Defendants Dawes, Free, Blahnik and Belans were 

responsible for some or all of this fraudulent conduct. Delphi was aided and 

abetted in one of the transactions by Defendant Bahadur. Defendant Laura Marion 

aided and abetted in the Delphi books and records, and reporting violations 

associated with Delphi's accounting for and reporting of these transactions. 



5 .  Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2001, Delphi solicited a lump 

sum payment from the IT Company, in return for Delphi providing new business to 

the IT Company and agreeing to repay the $20 million, with interest, over a five- 

year period. Despite knowing that this payment should have been accounted for by 

Delphi as Delphi's liability to the IT Company, Delphi documented the transaction 

in a way that misrepresented the nature of the payment and accounted for the 

payment as an immediate reduction of IT expense in the fourth quarter. This 

resulted in Delphi materially overstating its originally reported EPS and net income 

in 2001 for the fourth quarter and for the fill year (based on the company's pro 

forma reported earnings, which excluded certain restructuring charges). The 

misstatements were reflected in Delphi's Form 10-K for the period ended 

December 3 1,2001, as filed with the Commission on or about February 12,2002. 

Defendants Dawes, Free, Rozanski and Kudla were responsible for some or all of 

this fraudulent conduct. Delphi was aided and abetted in the fi-audulent scheme by 

Defendant McDonald. Defendants Stuart Doyle and Kevin Curry, client 

executives at the IT Company, aided and abetted the Delphi books and records, and 

reporting violations associated with the scheme. 

6. Moreover, from 2003 to 2004, Delphi intentionally failed to disclose 

material sales of accounts receivable ("factoring"). In its earnings reports filed 

with the Commission on Forms 8-K in 2003 and in related presentations to 



investors and analysts in 2003 and 2004, Delphi used pro forma measures of 

liquidity and operating cash flow, known as Street Liquidity and Street Operating 

Cash Flow. Under these measures, consistent with rating agency practices, cash 

flow from factoring is supposed to be treated as borrowing proceeds rather than as 

cash flow from operations. By failing to'disclose a material portion of its total 

factoring, Delphi materially overstated its Street Liquidity and Street Operating 

Cash Flow. Defendants Dawes and Blahnik participated in some or all of this 

fraudulent conduct. 

7. By virtue of the foregoing conduct: 

a. Delphi, directly or indirectly, engaged in and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices or courses of business which 

constitute violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933 ("Securities 

Act") [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) 

of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 ("Exchange Act") [15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), 

78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules lob-5, 12b-20, 13a- 1, 13a- 1 1 

and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. ~~240.10b-5,240.12b-20,240.13a-1,240.13a-11and 

240.13a- 131, promulgated thereunder; 

b. Battenberg, directly or indirectly, engaged in and, unless 

enjoined, will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices or courses of 

business which constitute violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 



U.S.C. §77q(a)], Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 

$§78j(b) and 78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5, 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. 

5240.10b-5,240.13b2- 1 and 240.1 3b2-21, promulgated thereunder, and aided and 

abetted violations by Delphi of Sections 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange 

Act [15 U.S.C. §§78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13 

[17 C.F.R. tj 5240.12b-20,240.13a- 1 and 240.13a-131, promulgated thereunder; 

c. Dawes, directly or indirectly, engaged in and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices or courses of business which 

constitute violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. $77q(a)], 

Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 78j(b) and 

78m(b)(5)], and Rules lob-5, 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5, 

240.13b2- 1 and 240.1 3b2-21, promulgated thereunder, and aided and abetted 

violations by Delphi of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 

12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11 and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. ~~240.12b-20,240.13a-1,240.13a-

1 1 and 240.13 a- 1 31, promulgated thereunder; 

d. Free, directly or indirectly, engaged in and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices or courses of business which 

constitute violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)], 

Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. tj 78j(b) and 



78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5, 13b2- 1 and 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5, 

240.13b2- 1 and 240.1 3b2-21, promulgated thereunder, and aided and abetted 

violations by Delphi of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 

12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. 55240.12b-20,240.13a-1 and 240.13a-131, 

promulgated thereunder; 

e. Blahnik, directly or indirectly, engaged in and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices or courses of business which 

constitute violations of violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. 

§77q(a)], Section 10(b) and 13(b)(5) [15 U.S.C. 9 78j(b) and 78m(b)(5)] of the 

Exchange Act and Rules lob-5 and 13b2- 1 [17 C.F.R. 5240.10b-5 and 240.13b2- 

11, promulgated thereunder, and aided and abetted violations by Delphi of Sections 

13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §$78m(a) and 

78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-11 [17 C.F.R. §$240.12b-20, 

240.13a- 1 and 240.13a- 1 11, promulgated thereunder; 

f. Belans, directly or indirectly, engaged in and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices or courses of business which 

constitute violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act 115 U.S.C. $77q(a)], 

Section 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $5  78j(b) and 

78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5 and 13b2-1 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5 and 240.13b2-11, 



promulgated thereunder, and aided and abetted violations by Delphi of Sections 

13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $$78m(a) and 

78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a- 1 and 13a- 13 [17 C.F.R. $$240.12b-20, 

240.13 a- 1 and 240.13a- 131, promulgated thereunder; 

g. Rozanski, directly or indirectly, engaged in and, unless 

enjoined, will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices or courses of 

business which constitute violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 

U.S.C. $77q(a)], Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $5  

78j(b) and 78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5 and 13b2-1 [17 C.F.R. $$240.10b-5 and 

240.13b2- 11, promulgated thereunder, and aided and abetted violations by Delphi 

of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 

$ $78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20 and 13a- 1 [17 

C.F.R. $5240.12b-20 and 240.13a- 11, promulgated thereunder; 

h. Kudla, directly or indirectly, engaged in and, unless enjoined, 

will continue to engage in transactions, acts, practices or courses of business which 

constitute violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. $77q(a)], 

Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $5  78j(b) and 

78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5 and 13b2-1 [17 C.F.R. $$240.10b-5 and 240.13'02-11, 

promulgated thereunder, and aided and abetted Delphi's violations of Sections 

10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 



9§78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 1 O(b)(5), 12b-20 and 

13a-1 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5,240.12b-20 and 240.1 3a-11, promulgated 

thereunder; 

i. Bahadur aided and abetted violations by Delphi of Sections 

10(b), 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), 78m(a) and 

78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules lob-5, 12b-20 and 13a- 1 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5, 

240.12b-20 and 240.13a- 11, promulgated thereunder; 

j. McDonald aided and abetted violations by Delphi of Sections 

10(b), 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. @78j(b), 78m(a) 

and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules lob-5, 12b-20 and 13a-1 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5, 

240.12b-20 and 240.1 3a- 11, promulgated thereunder; 

k. Pasricha aided and abetted and, unless enjoined, will continue 

to aid and abet violations by Delphi of Sections 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 

and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5,240.12b-20,240.13a-1 and 240.13a-131, 

promulgated thereunder; 

1. Marion aided and abetted violations by Delphi of Sections 13(a) 

and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and 

Rules 12b-20 and 13a-1 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5,240.12b-20 and 240.13a-11, 

promulgated thereunder; 



m. Doyle aided and abetted violations by Delphi of Sections 13(a) 

and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and 

Rules 12b-20 and 13a-1 [17 C.F.R. §§240,10b-5,240.12b-20 and 240.13a-11, 

promulgated thereunder; and 

n. Curry aided and abetted violations by Delphi of Sections 13(a) 

and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act 115 U.S.C. §§78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and 

Rules 12b-20 and 13a-1 [17 C.F.R. §$240.10b-5,240.12b-20 and 240.13a-11, 

promulgated thereunder. 

8. The Commission requests that the Court enjoin defendants Delphi, 

Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Pasricha, Belans, Rozanski, Kudla and 

McDonald from further violations of the federal securities laws as alleged herein. 

9. The Commission further requests that the Court order defendants 

Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, Rozanski, Kudla, Bahadur and 

McDonald to disgorge all ill-gotten gains, with prejudgment interest thereon 

pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act and Section 21 (d)(3) of the 

Exchange Act. 

10. The Commission further requests that the Court order defendants 

Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, Rozanski, Kudla, and McDonald to pay 

civil penalties pursuant to Section 20(d) of the Securities Act and Section 2 1 (d)(3) 

of the Exchange Act. 



1 1. The Commission further requests that the Court order defendants 

Pasricha, Bahadur, Marion, Doyle and Curry to pay civil penalties pursuant to 

Section 2 1 (d)(3) of the Exchange Act. 

12. The Commission further requests that, pursuant to Section 2 1 (d)(2) of 

the Exchange Act, the Court permanently bar defendants Battenberg, Dawes and 

Blahnik from serving as an officer or director of any issuer that has a class of 

securities registered under Section 12 of the Exchange Act or that is required to file 

reports pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

13. The Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to Section 22(a) 

of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77v(a)] and Sections 21(e) and 27 of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78u(e), 78aal and 28 U.S.C. 8 133 1. 

14. Venue is proper in this Court pursuant to Section 22(a) of the 

Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77v(a)] and Section 27 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 

§78aa]. 

15. In connection with the transactions, acts, practices and courses of 

business alleged in this Complaint, Delphi, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, 

Pasricha, Belans, Rozanski, Kudla, Marion, Bahadur, McDonald, Doyle and Curry 

(collectively, the "Defendants") directly or indirectly, made use of the means or 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce or of the mails. Some of these 



transactions, acts, practices and courses of business occurred within the Eastern 

District of Michigan. 

DEFENDANTS 

16. Delphi is an auto parts supplier that, at all relevant times, has been 

headquartered in Troy, Michigan. It was incorporated in Delaware in 1998. At all 

relevant times, Delphi's common stock was registered with the Commission 

pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange Act and was listed on the New York 

Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol "DPH." In 2001 and 2003, Delphi 

made certain registered offerings of notes and preferred stock. On October 8, 

2005, Delphi filed for bankruptcy in the Southern District of New York. On 

November 1 1,2005, Delphi was delisted fiom the NYSE. Delphi's common stock 

is now registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange 

Act and trades in the over the counter market and is quoted in the pink sheets under 

the symbol "DPHIQ." During all relevant times, Delphi disseminated financial 

statements to the public that the Company represented were presented in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). 

17. J.T. Battenberg, 111, age 63, resides in Bloomfield Hills, Michigan and 

Naples, Florida. He served as Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of Delphi 

fiom February 1999 until June 2005, when he retired from the company. As Chief 

Executive Officer, Battenberg reviewed Delphi's Forms 10-Q, and reviewed and 



signed Delphi's Forms 10-K, prior to their filing with the Commission. Battenberg 

also reviewed Delphi's earnings releases and participated in presentations to 

investors and financial analysts. 

18. Alan Dawes, age 5 1, resides in Palm Beach Gardens, Florida. He 

served as Chief Financial Officer of Delphi from August 1998 to March 2005, 

when he was separated by Delphi. At all relevant times, Dawes reported to 

Battenberg. Dawes is not an accountant or a lawyer, but at all relevant times 

supervised Delphi's accounting and financial disclosure fbnctions. As Delphi's 

Chief Financial Officer, Dawes prepared or oversaw the preparation of materials 

concerning Delphi's earnings forecasts and financial performance. He also 

reviewed or oversaw the preparation of Delphi's Forms 1 0-Q, and reviewed or 

oversaw the preparation of, and signed, Delphi's Forms 10-K, prior to their filing 

with the Commission. Dawes also reviewed and participated in the preparation of 

Delphi's earnings releases and participated in, and in the preparation of, 

presentations to investors and financial analysts. 

19. Paul Free, age 50, resides in Oakland, Michigan. He served as 

Controller and Chief Accounting Officer of Delphi from 1998 to April 2002, 

reporting to Dawes. He was separated by Delphi in March 2005. Free has been 

licensed as a certified public accountant ("CPA") in the State of Missouri since 

198 1. As Controller and Chief Accounting Officer of Delphi, Free prepared or 



oversaw the preparation of materials concerning Delphi's earnings forecasts and 

financial performance. He also prepared, reviewed or oversaw the preparation of, 

and signed, Delphi's Forms 1 O-Q and 1 0-K, prior to their filing with the 

Commission. Free also reviewed and participated in the preparation of Delphi's 

earnings releases and participated in, and in the preparation of, presentations to 

investors and financial analysts. 

20. John Blahnik, age 52, resides in Bloomfield Hills, Michigan. He 

served first as Treasurer and then as Vice President of Treasury, Mergers and 

Acquisitions of Delphi from 1998 to 2005, reporting to Dawes. In June 2005, he 

was separated by Delphi. As Delphi's Treasurer and Vice President of Treasury, 

Mergers and Acquisitions, Blahnik oversaw the preparation of earnings releases 

and analyst and rating agency presentations that incorporated information 

concerning GAAP and non-GAAP measures of Delphi's cash flow and liquidity. 

21. Milan Belans, age 39, resides in Farmington Hills, Michigan. He 

served in various positions at Delphi, from 1998 until August 2005, when he was 

separated by the company. Belans served in Delphi's controller's office, as 

Director of Financial Accounting and Reporting, from August 1998 to January 

2000, reporting to Free. He also served in Delphi's treasury department, as 

Director of Capital Planning and Pension Analysis, from January 2000 to August 



2001, reporting to Dawes, Blahnik and Pasricha. Belans has been licensed as a 

CPA in the state of Michigan since 1992. 

22. Judith Kudla, age 48, resides in Bloomfield Hills, Michigan. She 

served in various positions at Delphi from 1998 to April 2002, when she was 

separated by the company. Kudla served as Director of Finance in Delphi's IT 

department from June 1999 to April 2002. In that position, Kudla was responsible 

for providing GAAP accounting advice concerning IT department transactions. 

Kudla has been licensed as a CPA in the State of Michigan since approximately 

1984. 

23. Catherine Rozanski, age 38, resides in Troy, Michigan. She served in 

various positions at the company, from 1999 to 2005, when she was separated by 

the company. Rozanski served as Delphi's Director of Financial Accounting and 

Reporting fiom April 2001 to March 2004. Rozanski has been licensed as a CPA 

in the State of Michigan since 1992. As Director of Financial Accounting and 

Reporting, Rozanski prepared, reviewed or oversaw the preparation of Delphi's 

Forms 10-Q and 10-K, prior to their filing with the Commission. 

24. Scot McDonald, age 41, is a resident of Carrollton, Texas. He has 

served in various accounting positions at the IT Company fiom 1996 to the 

present. Between 1996 and 2002, McDonald served as the IT Company's Manager 

of U.S. GAAP Consulting and Reporting. Subsequently, he served, at various 



times, as Director of U.S. GAAP, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer of the 

IT Company. McDonald has been licensed as a CPA in the State of Texas since 

1989. 

25. B.N. Bahadur, age 6 1, resides in West Bloomfield, Michigan. At all 

material times, he was the founder, sole owner and principal of the Consulting 

Company, a private management consulting company based in Southfield, 

Michigan. 

26. Atul Pasricha, age 49, resides in Bloomfield Hills, Michigan. He 

served in various positions at Delphi from 1998 until 2006, when he resigned from 

the company. From 1998 to September 19,2000, he was an assistant treasurer at 

Delphi. 

27. Laura Marion, age 34, resides in Rochester Hills, Michigan. She 

served in various positions at Delphi from 1999 to 2006, when she resigned from 

the company. Marion served as Delphi's Director of Financial Accounting and 

Reporting, reporting to Free, from March 2000 to April 2001. As Director of 

Financial Accounting and Reporting, Marion prepared, reviewed or oversaw the 

preparation of Delphi's Form 10-K for 2000, prior to its filing with the 

Commission. 

28. Stuart Doyle, age 49, resides in Rochester Hills, Michigan. He served 

in various positions at the IT Company, from 1985 to 2004. From approximately 



June 2000 to February 2002, he served as the lead client executive supporting the 

IT Company's relationship with Delphi. 

29. Kevin Curry, age 58, resides in Hilton Head, South Carolina. He 

served in various positions at the IT Company, from 1976 until 2004. In 200 1 and 

early 2002, he was a client executive, reporting to Doyle and supporting the IT 

Company's relationship with Delphi. Through the rest of 2002, he was the lead 

client executive supporting the IT Company's relationship with Delphi. . 

Delphi's Warranty Reserve Increase and Warranty Payment 
to its Former Parent Company 

30. In May 2000, Delphi's former parent company asserted that Delphi 

owed it more than $350 million, and possibly as much as $800 million, to cover 

alleged warranty claims for purportedly defective parts Delphi sold to the former 

parent company prior to Delphi's separation from the former parent company in 

1999 (the "Separation"). Because Delphi's existing reserves were not nearly 

sufficient to cover these claims, Battenberg and Dawes knew or were reckless in 

not knowing that making such a payment would result in a significant reduction to 

Delphi's operating income. 

3 1. Battenberg, Dawes and other Delphi executives believed the former 

parent company should have been estopped from making warranty claims related 

to parts sold before the Separation in excess of the reserves the former parent 



company had put in place at Delphi at the time of the Separation. Despite their 

belief that the warranty claim was unfair, however, Battenberg and Dawes believed 

Delphi could not afford to be in a major dispute with its former parent company, 

which was Delphi's largest customer, and therefore believed Delphi had no choice 

but to settle with the former parent company. 

Second Quarter 2000 Warranty Reserve 

32. As of July 2000, Battenberg and Dawes hoped that they could 

convince the former parent company to reduce its warranty claims to no more than 

$100 million. Accordingly, in the second quarter of 2000, Delphi increased its 

warranty reserves by $1 12 million. However, Delphi misclassified this increase to 

the warranty liability as a direct charge, aRer tax, to retained earnings, rather than 

to current expenses, under the incorrect notion that the liability should have been 

recorded in Delphi's initial spin-off balance sheet at Separation. There was no 

basis for Delphi to record the reserve adjustment as an adjustment related to the 

spin-off. In particular, Battenberg and Dawes knew that Delphi remained liable for 

warranties on parts sold to the former parent prior to the spin-off, and that, in 

continuing to assert its full $275 million warranty claim, the former parent 

company had firmly rejected Delphi's contention that the warranty liability should 

have been recorded in Delphi's balance sheet before the spin-off. The 

misclassification of the reserve increase as a direct adjustment to equity, rather 



than as an expense item, resulted in Delphi materially overstating its net income 

for the second quarter, as reported in Delphi's Form 10-Q for the period ended 

June 30,2000, by $69 million. 

33. After Delphi and the former parent company settled the wkanty  

claims without agreement that the liability should have been accrued before the 

separation, Delphi executives familiar with the warranty negotiations, including 

Dawes and Free, knew or were reckless in not knowing that no basis existed for 

Delphi's characterization of the second quarter warranty accrual as a direct charge 

to equity. Nevertheless, Delphi's Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 

2000 reflected the continued mischaracterization of the warranty reserve 

adjustment, resulting in Delphi materially overstating its net income for the year by 

$69 million. Delphi's Form 10-K for the period ended December 31,2000 was 

reviewed and signed by Dawes and Free, both of whom knew or were reckless in 

not knowing that Delphi's accounting for the warranty reserve, as reflected in the 

financial statements incorporated in the Form 1 0-K, was materially and 

intentionally false and misleading. 

34. In its Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,2000, Delphi 

intentionally failed to disclose material information concerning its warranty dispute 

with its former parent company. Delphi made no mention of the warranty reserve 

increase, and instead referred vaguely and misleadingly to a "separation related" 



charge, suggesting the charge related to one of "several separation related 

transactions, such as the separation of our hourly pension and [OPEB] plans" from 

the former parent company. Delphi's only disclosure relating to the former 

parent's warranty claim was a statement, elsewhere in the filing, that it was 

"engaged in ongoing discussions" with the former parent company "regarding 

potential warranty claims which may be material" but that it "believe[d] that [its] 

established reserves [would] be adequate to cover these claims." Under the 

direction of, or with the approval of, Battenberg, Dawes and Free, Delphi 

intentionally failed to disclose in the filing or elsewhere: (i) that the former parent 

company was making a warranty claim of more than $350 million that far 

exceeded either Delphi's existing warranty reserves or the former parent 

company's historical warranty claims against Delphi; (ii) that the largest item in 

the so-called separation related charge did not relate to pension and OPEB, but to a 

highly material $1 12 million ($69 million after tax) increase in Delphi's warranty 

reserve; (iii) that the direct charge to retained earnings associated with the warranty 

claims related not to a previously agreed true-up of warranty claims, but to new 

claims asserted by the former parent company long after Separation; or (iv) the 

possible significance of these events to Delphi's current and fbture operating 

results and liquidity. Delphi's Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30,2000 was 

signed by Free and reviewed by Battenberg and Dawes, all of whom knew or were 



reckless in not knowing that, as a result of the disclosures and omissions, the filing 

was materially and intentionally false and misleading. 

September 2000 Warranty Settlement 

35. By September 2000, Delphi and its former parent company had 

reached an agreement concerning 27 warranty claims, their likely cost, and the 

proportion representing Delphi's responsibility. Delphi executives, including 

Battenberg and Dawes, continued to believe that the former parent company 

should be estopped from making the claims. They also continued to be concerned 

about the impact of a large warranty payment on Delphi's net income for 2000. 

And they were concerned that, if Delphi made such a large warranty payment to its 

former parent company, investors, analysts and customers would raise serious 

questions about the quality of Delphi automotive parts. However, Battenberg, and 

Dawes, as well as Pasricha and Belans, treasury executives who were reporting to 

Dawes and directly involved in the warranty negotiations, knew that the former 

parent company would not accept any amount less than $237 million from Delphi 

to satisfl the warranty claims, and would not agree that the liability should have 

been recorded in Delphi's initial spin-off balance sheet. 

36. Accordingly, in a September 5,2000 meeting attended by Battenberg, 

Dawes and senior officers of the former parent company, the possibility of 

"asymmetrical" accounting was discussed. Battenberg and Dawes took this to be a 



suggestion that Delphi and the former parent company each account for the 

$237 million payment differently. According to Battenberg, the former parent 

company suggested that Delphi could use the "true up" process to accomplish its 

goals. The true-up process was a process by which Delphi made payments to the 

former parent company to compensate it for ongoing pension and OPEB liabilities 

associated with certain Delphi employees who had been employed by the former 

parent company. 

37. Battenberg and Dawes took the suggestion that Delphi use 

asymmetrical accounting and the true up process to resolve the warranty dispute as 

a suggestion that Delphi mischaracterize the warranty payment to meet its 

accounting and disclosure purposes, even though they knew the former parent 

company would be accounting for the whole payment as a warranty payment. 

They also understood, however, that Delphi could potentially limit the payment's 

impact on its own income statement if Delphi could relate the payment to 

something that would not directly and immediately lower Delphi's income and 

would not have to be publicly disclosed as relating to warranty expense. 

38. Immediately following the September 5 meeting, a scheme was 

developed to minimize the impact of the $237 million payment on Delphi's income 

statement by mischaracterizing it as a deferrable pensiodOPEB expense. To carry 

out this scheme, Belans, at Pasricha's direction and with Dawes' approval, added a 



provision to the warranty settlement agreement that released the former parent 

company from a pensiodOPEB claim that the former parent company had never 

asserted against Delphi, and had no basis to assert; specifically, a claim that, in 

calculating the pensiodOPEB true-up payments, the companies should have used 

certain 1999 actuarial assumptions, rather than 1998 assumptions. To support 

Delphi's false and misleading accounting for the pensiodOPEB release, Belans, 

also at the direction of Pasricha, had Delphi's actuarial consultant conduct a rough 

calculation of what Delphi's pension1OPEB true up payments would be if the 

companies had used the 1999 assumptions. While Delphi's actuaries did not 

perform any type of formal analysis, they did send Delphi a one-page fax that 

suggested that Delphi's pension and OPEB payments to the former parent 

company could have been about $202 million higher. 

39. On or about September 22,2000, Delphi and the former parent 

company executed the settlement agreement. The agreement was signed by Dawes 

for Delphi, with the approval of Battenberg. It provided that, in exchange for 

Delphi paying the former parent company $237 million in the third quarter of 

2000, the former parent company would release Delphi from claims relating to 27 

warranty campaigns and would release Delphi from any claim that the companies 

should have used the 1999 actuarial assumptions, instead of 1998 assumptions, in 

connection with the pensiodOPEB true up payments. The agreement did not 



allocate the payment between the 27 warranty items and the release of the 

pensiodOPEB liability, and thus facilitated the plan to account for the payment 

asymmetrically. Although not reflected in the written agreement, the former parent 

company also agreed to engage in a mediation or arbitration with Delphi, pursuant 

to which Delphi could present its argument that the former parent company was 

estopped from making the warranty claims and could attempt to recover a portion 

of the $237 million. 

40. Consistent with the negotiations between the companies that had 

valued the 27 items at $237 million, in connection with its quarter ended 

September 30,2000, the former parent company recorded the entire payment as a 

warranty payment. The former parent company allotted no value to the 

pensiodOPEB provisions because it knew the claim was worthless. In contrast, in 

the same period, Delphi improperly recorded $202 million of the total amount as a 

pensiodOPEB payment to the former parent company, and only $35 million as a 

warranty charge. The $202 million portion of the payment had no impact on 

Delphi's income statement because Delphi treated the $202 million payment as an 

actuarial loss in its pension plan. This treatment enabled Delphi to amortize the 

payment as an adjustment of pension expense over several years. Had Delphi 

properly recorded the $202 million as a warranty-related expense, Delphi's net 

income would have been less than $15 million for the third quarter of 2000, rather 



than the $148 million it reported in its Form 10-Q for the third quarter of 2000 and 

its Form 10-K for 2000. 

41. Delphi has now conceded that the provision in the settlement 

agreement relating to pension1OPEB costs had no economic value and that it 

should have accounted for the entire $237 million payment to the former parent 

company as a warranty payment. It filed a restated Form 10-K on June 30,2005, 

recording the entire payment as a warranty charge. 

42. Battenberg, Dawes, Free and Belans each knew or were reckless in 

not knowing that engineers and financial analysts from Delphi and the former 

parent company had valued the 27 warranty items at $237 million and that the 

former parent company would not back down from its claim for $237 million. 

They also knew or were reckless in not knowing that, to the extent Delphi believed 

it had any basis to argue that the former parent company was estopped from 

making the claims, the former parent company had agreed to the arbitration or 

mediation process through which Delphi could present its claims to a neutral third 

party, and that those claims would not be limited to $35 million, but to the full 

$237 million. (Battenberg, Dawes and Free subsequently became aware that, as a 

result of the mediation, Delphi ultimately recovered $55 million in warranty 

expense fiom the former parent company, even though Delphi had only recorded 

$35 million of the payment to the former parent company as a warranty expense). 



Finally, Battenberg, Dawes, Free and Belans knew or were reckless in not knowing 

that at no time during any of the negotiations leading to the September 2000 

settlement did anyone at the former parent company make any claim relating to 

pension/OPEB actuarial assumptions. Rather they included, or allowed the 

inclusion of, the reference to increases in pension/OPEB costs in the warranty 

settlement solely to allow Delphi to falsely account for $202 million of the 

payment as a pensiodOPEB payment to the former parent company. 

43. Based on their participation in the scheme, Battenberg, Dawes, Free 

and Belans knew or were reckless in not knowing that Delphi's accounting for the 

$202 million of the $237 million payment to the former parent company, as 

reflected in its Form 10-K for the period ended December 3 1,2000, was materially 

and intentionally false and misleading. 

44. Delphi's disclosure of the warranty settlement was also intentionally 

and materially misleading. In its third quarter Form 1 0-Q, Delphi disclosed the 

$237 million payment to the former parent company as a "separation related 

obligation to [the former parent company] . . . related primarily to changes in 

assumptions for pension and other post-retirement benefits as well as to certain 

pre-separation warranty claims." In its Form 10-K for 2000, Delphi similarly 

stated that the September 2000 settlement "related primarily to changes in 

assumptions for employee benefit obligations, as well as certain pre-Separation 



warranty claims." Battenberg, Dawes and Free prepared, signed and/or reviewed 

both filings and knew or were reckless in not knowing that, as a result of the 

disclosures and omissions, the filings were materially and intentionally false and 

misleading. 

Inventory Transactions 

45. Near year end 2000, Delphi entered into two transactions through 

which Delphi purported to sell approximately $200 million of metals inventory to a 

bank (the "Bank") and approximately $70 million of automotive generator cores 

and batteries to the Consulting Company, while simultaneously agreeing that it 

would repurchase the same inventory from the same parties in the first quarter of 

2001. Delphi accounted for the transactions as sales. It should have accounted for 

them as financing transactions. By accounting for the transactions as sales, Delphi 

artificially and materially lowered its reported inventory levels and inflated cash 

flow fiom operations. Additionally, because Delphi used the Last-In-First-Out 

("LIFO") inventory accounting method, the sham inventory reduction also enabled 

the company to report LIFO gains in earnings of more than $80 million for the year 

2000. 

December 2000 Precious Metals Transaction with the Bank 

46. In the last few days of 2000, Delphi entered into an agreement with 

the Bank, purporting to sell it approximately $200 million of precious metals. As 



agreed at the time of the sale, Delphi repurchased the identical metals from the 

Bank before the end of January 2001. Under the terms of its agreement, the Bank 

purported to own the metals for the one-month period, and Delphi agreed to pay 

the Bank approximately $3.5 million. The purpose of the transaction was to permit 

Delphi to accelerate recognition of inventory liquidation gains, feign greater 

liquidity, and otherwise appear to achieve analyst targets and other financial goals. 

As a result of the transaction, Delphi improperly recognized $54 million in net 

income. Delphi also improperly boosted its cash flow from operations by 

approximately $200 million. 

47. From the time of its separation from its former parent company, 

Delphi had purchased from its former parent company, and maintained, high value 

inventories of precious metals. The metals, known collectively as either "Platinum 

Grade" or "Precious Group" metals, or simply as "PGMs," were used in the 

production of auto parts, including, primarily, catalytic converters. An agreement 

reached with its former parent company in 1998 gave Delphi ownership of an 

existing PGM inventory that Delphi would use to manufacture parts sold to its 

former parent company. The agreement expired at the end of 2000. There was an 

expectation between the parties that shortly after year-end 2000, the former parent 

company would purchase Delphi's PGM inventory, which would result in removal 

of the metals from Delphi's balance sheet. 



48. Although the 1998 agreement did not expire until December 31,2000, 

Delphi incorrectly presumed that its former parent company would repurchase the 

metals at or before the end of 2000. As a result, Delphi's financial forecasts and 

guidance to investors and analysts for the year and fourth quarter 2000 

contemplated material reductions in inventory levels and increases in cash flow 

fiom operations and net income, consistent with a sale of approximately $200 

million of PGMs to its former parent company. Realizing, however, that its former 

parent company may not agree to purchase the metals before year end 2000, 

Delphi's then treasurer Blahnik directed Belans to conceive an alternative 

structured finance plan. This initiative was described to Dawes in a November 

2000 memorandum fiom treasury as "Off-balance sheet financing of PGM 

inventory." Free was also aware of the initiative and relied on it as part of an effort 

to feign year-end reductions in inventory. Under the plan, Delphi would 

temporarily sell the metals to a third party before year end and then buy them back 

in early 2001 in time to sell the metals to its former parent company. 

49. In November 2000, Belans discussed with Delphi's outside auditor, 

proposed structures that would allow Delphi to temporarily move the PGM 

inventory off balance sheet and account for the transaction as a true sale, rather 

than as a financing transaction. The auditor approved of three alternative 

structures for the transaction. One such structure called for Delphi to sell the 



metals to a third party at the end of 2000 and simultaneously entering a forward 

contract to repurchase the metals. However, the auditor advised Belans that, under 

GAAP, in order for the transaction to be accounted for as a true sale and 

repurchase, the sales price and the forward price must be "market" prices. Based 

on the auditor's guidance and his prior experience as a CPA, Belans knew or was 

reckless in not knowing that, if the forward price was generated by taking the 

purchase price and adding the purchaser's carrying and interest costs, the 

transaction would have to be accounted for as a financing rather than as a sale. 

50. In late December, it became clear to Delphi that its former parent 

company would not purchase the PGM inventory from Delphi before early 2001. 

Blahnik knew Delphi would have to pay the Bank a significant fee to achieve an 

equivalent financial statement result through a structured financing transaction. 

Nevertheless, with Dawes7 and Blahnik's approval, Delphi went forward with the 

initiative it had discussed with its auditor, ultimately negotiating a transaction with 

the Bank. 

5 1. The transaction with the Bank had two components: a purchase 

agreement, pursuant to which the Bank agreed to purchase the PGM inventory 

from Delphi in December 2000, and a forward agreement, pursuant to which 

Delphi agreed to repurchase the identical metals from the Bank in January 2001, at 

specified prices. Neither contract states how the parties arrived at these prices. 



52. Delphi and the Bank executed the agreements on December 28,2000. 

Blahnik signed on behalf of Delphi. On the same day, the Bank wired 

$199,256,785.65 to Delphi. Delphi treated approximately $193 million of this 

amount as a reduction in inventory and approximately $6 million as a credit to cost 

of sales, resulting in an equivalent increase to income. On January 29,2001, 

Delphi wired $202,5 14,626.18 back to the Bank. Between December 28 and 

January 29, the metals remained under Delphi's control and, in fact, continued to 

be used by Delphi in its production process. The contrived inventory reduction 

enabled Delphi to report a $54 million LIFO gain at the end of 2000. 

53. The price at which Delphi sold the metals to the Bank, and the higher 

price at which it repurchased the metals, were both well below market price for the 

metals. In a misleading effort to demonstrate it was following its auditor's advice 

that the price at which Delphi sold the metals should be market prices, however, 

Belans created a memorandum that falsely justified the prices as being 

appropriately discounted from market, based on the very large volume of metals 

involved in the transaction. While acknowledging that there was huge volatility in 

the price of PGMs, the memorandum also justified the forward price as an 

appropriate approximation of the one-month future price of the metals. However, 

the memorandum's analysis was contrived. In fact, the purchase price was 

obtained not by looking at the metals' market value, but by taking the approximate 



price at which Delphi held the metals on its books. The forward price was 

calculated by taking the $199,256,785.65 purchase price and adding $3,257,840.52 

in the Bank's fees and costs. 

54. Although the agreements Delphi entered with the Bank omitted any 

reference to the true basis for the pricing, internal documents at Delphi make clear 

that, at a minimum, Blahnik, Belans and Free knew or were reckless in not 

knowing, and Marion came to know before Delphi filed its Form 10-K for 2000, 

how the parties actually arrived at the purchase and forward amounts. For 

example, on the day before Blahnik was to sign the agreements with the Bank, 

Belans sent Blahnik a memo stating that "the forward price is the price received 

under [the Purchase Agreement], plus the $2 million transaction fee, plus the 

interest carry cost." After the transaction, but before Delphi issued its Form 10-K 

for the period ended December 3 1,2000, Marion received from the treasury 

department and shared with Free a document that provided a "cost breakdown" for 

the 664th Qtr 2000 Structured Finance Initiatives" and showed the "Structuring 

Fee[s]," "Interest Carry" costs and "Other Fees" associated with the metals 

inventory transaction. Similarly, Delphi told the Bank it wanted an "accounting 

transaction" that would allow Delphi to move the metals off of its books, yet 

satisfy its auditor that the transaction could be accounted for as a sale. 



December 2000 Cores and Batteries Transaction with a Consulting Company 

55. Also in December 2000, following negotiations with Bahadur, Delphi 

entered into an agreement with the Consulting Company. Under the agreement, 

Delphi purported to sell automotive batteries and generator cores to the Consulting 

Company. Pursuant to an oral repurchase arrangement with Bahadur, however, 

Delphi agreed it would repurchase the identical inventory from the Consulting 

Company in the first quarter of 2001, at its original price, plus a transaction fee. 

Delphi's purpose in entering into the transaction was to accelerate recognition of 

$27 million in inventory LIFO liquidation gains and achieve net income targets. 

56. The transaction that was ultimately to become the December 2000 

cores and batteries transaction was also listed on Treasury's November 2000 

memorandum to Dawes, described as "~ff~balancesheet financing of generator -..,-
*<&!& e; - . , 

cores" and was listed on spreadsheets maintained by Free in connection with his 

year-end inventory reduction effort. As with the transaction with the Bank, 

Belans' goal was to structure the transaction in a way that would assure Delphi 

would obtain the auditor's approval for true sale accounting treatment. On the face 

of the agreement with the Consulting Company, such accounting treatment seemed 

appropriate. However, Belans deliberately omitted material terms of the actual 

agreement from the written documents. In fact, Delphi and Bahadur had orally 



agreed that the Consulting Company would sell the inventory back to Delphi in 

early 2001 at the purchase price plus a fee. 

57. Although the Consulting Company had been engaged by Delphi on 

multiple occasions to provide consulting services, prior to the cores and batteries 

transaction, the Consulting Company had never purchased inventory fi-om an 

automotive or automotive supply company. Moreover, the Consulting company 

had no need nor use for the batteries or cores. Nevertheless, after consulting 

outside counsel and participating in telephone conference calls with counsel and 

Belans, Bahadur agreed to enter into the transaction with Delphi. Bahadur's 

counsel, who drafted the contract, proposed to Belans and recommended to 

Bahadur that Delphi's repurchase obligation be put in writing. Because Delphi 

wanted to mislead its auditor into believing there was no repurchase agreement, 

however, Belans refused to put the repurchase obligation in writing. Bahadur 

agreed to go forward with the transaction without a written repurchase agreement. 

58. Before consummating the transaction, Belans and Bahadur negotiated 

the specific price for the repurchase: Delphi would sell the inventory to the 

Consulting Company for $70,000,000, the approximate book value of the 

inventory, and repurchase it fi-om the Consulting Company for $70,000,000 plus a 

0.5% fee. On December 27,2000, Delphi and the Consulting Company entered 

into an "Inventory Purchase Agreement," pursuant to which the Consulting 



Company agreed to purchase cores and batteries from Delphi. The agreement 

made no mention of Delphi's repurchase obligation or its agreement to pay a fee to 

the Consulting Company. 

59. Delphi originally contemplated that the Consulting Company 

transaction would help Delphi meet both inventory and cash flow targets. 

However, in late December 2000, Delphi learned from Bahadur that the Consulting 

Company would be unable to obtain financing before year end and thus would be 

unable to immediately pay for the inventory. In a conference call, Free, Blahnik 

and Belans discussed the fact that, without receiving payment from the Consulting 

Company in 2000, Delphi would be unable to use the scheme as part of its plan to 

meet operating cash flow targets. Nevertheless, because the transaction was also 

important to Delphi's inventory reduction scheme, Free and Blahnik directed 

Belans to go forward with the transaction. 

60. After the new year, while the Consulting Company was still working 

on securing financing, Belans, with the knowledge and approval of Blahnik and 

Free, came up with an alternative plan that essentially resulted in Delphi financing 

the transaction itself. Belans enrolled the Consulting Company in a third party 

entity's supplier financing program. In the normal course, Delphi enrolled its 

suppliers in the third party supplier financing program so that suppliers could 

receive early, but reduced, payment on invoices issued for material purchased by 



Delphi. Under the program, as soon as the supplier's invoice was received and 

approved by Delphi, the third party supplier financer would pay the supplier at a 

discount. Delphi would then pay the third party supplier financer the full amount 

of the invoice on its actual due date. 

6 1. In connection with the batteries and cores transaction, however, 

Delphi used the third party supplier finance program for a different and improper 

purpose. At Belans' direction, Delphi first arranged with Bahadur for the 

Consulting Company to be enrolled in the supplier financer program. Then, again 

at Belans' direction, Delphi arranged with Bahadur to have the Consulting 

Company issue an invoice to Delphi for $70,840,214.28. This amount was 

calculated by Delphi so that, after the third party supplier financer took its fee, the 

Consulting Company would receive the net proceeds of $70,350,000. Upon 

receipt of the invoice, Blahnik and Free both approved it on behalf of Delphi and 

Delphi submitted it to the third party supplier financer. Blahnik and Free both 

knew or were reckless in not knowing that Delphi was repurchasing inventory it 

had purported to sell to the Consulting Company just days before and that the 

purpose of using the third-party supplier financer was to give the false appearance 

that the sale and repurchase were separate transactions. 

62. The Consulting Company received the $70,350,000 from the third- 

party supplier financer on or about January 12,2001 and immediately paid $70 
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million to Delphi as payment for its purchase of the inventory. The Consulting 

Company retained $350,000 as its fee. A month later, Delphi paid $70,840,214.28 

to the third party supplier financer. When the transaction was complete, Delphi 

had paid the Consulting Company $350,000, and had paid the third party supplier 

financer $538,385.63, to move inventory off of Delphi's books for approximately 

two weeks. At a cost of almost $900,000, Delphi manufactured an inventory LIFO 

gain of $27 million. No inventory ever left Delphi's premises. 

63. As with the Bank transaction, Dawes, Blahnik and Free knew or 

were reckless in not knowing, and Marion came to know before Delphi filed its 

Form 10-K for 2000, that the Consulting Company transaction was a financing 

transaction and not a true sale. In addition, Free and Belans hid material facts 

concerning the transaction from Delphi's auditor. In 2001, when the auditor 

learned of the January repurchase, the auditor questioned whether there had been 

any pre-existing agreement with the Consulting Company to repurchase the 

inventory. Free and Belans assured the auditor there was none. 

Misstatements of Accounting for the Inventory Transactions 

64. GAAP requires that an arrangement be treated as a product financing 

and not a sale where the sponsor (in this case Delphi) "sells the [inventory] to 

another entity . . . and in a related transaction agrees to repurchase the product," 

and where the repurchase price is not subject to change except, as necessary, to 
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recover substantially all fluctuations due to finance and holding costs. FAS 49: 

Accounting for Product Financing Arrangements (June 1 981). 

65. Delphi has restated the metals and cores and batteries inventory 

transactions, admitting that they should have been accounted for as financing 

transactions. As a result of the transactions, Delphi materially overstated its cash 

flow from operations by $200 million and materially overstated its originally 

reported earnings per share by approximately 13 cents or 36% for the quarter and 

7% for the full year. Combined with Delphi's improper accounting for its second 

quarter warranty reserve and third quarter warranty settlement, Delphi materially 

overstated its originally reported EPS for the full year 2000 by 49 cents or 26%. 

These misstatements were reflected in Delphi's Form 10-K for 2000. 

66. Delphi, Dawes, Free, Blahnik and Belans improperly accounted for 

and reported the metals and cores and batteries transactions as sales rather than as 

financings, with the intent of creating, and resulting in, material misrepresentations 

of the company's net income, cash flow from operations and LIFO inventory levels 

for the quarter and fiscal year ended December 3 1,2000. Dawes, Free, Blahnik 

and Belans each were active participants in the inventory schemes. Dawes and 

Blahnik oversaw and approved the scheme. Belans had day-to-day responsibility 

for negotiating with the counterparties. On the cores and batteries transaction, 

Belans negotiated the Consulting Company's fee with Bahadur and provided 



Bahadur with an oral repurchase agreement. Belans also organized for the 

transaction to be financed using the supplier financing program. On the metals 

transaction, Belans negotiated contracts that omitted any reference to bank's 

structuring fee and interest carry cost and then drafted a memo to Delphi's auditor 

that falsely suggested that the pricing was obtained based on an analysis of the 

fbture price of the metals. Free and Blahnik both signed the Consulting Company 

invoice that allowed Delphi to repurchase the cores and batteries inventory. In 

addition, Blahnik signed the bank contracts in connection with the metals 

transaction. Free approved Delphi's accounting for both transactions. Finally, 

Dawes and Free, prepared, reviewed and/or signed Delphi's Form 10-K for 2000. 

67. At the time they participated in the scheme, Dawes, Blahnik, Free and 

Belans knew or were reckless in not knowing that the metals and cores and 

batteries transactions each involved sales of inventory with related agreements to 

repurchase. In addition, each knew or was reckless in not knowing that, in each 

transaction, the repurchase price was not subject to change and was calculated to 

cover the bank's and Consulting Company's costs, as well as to provide them with 

a significant profit on the transactions. They also each knew or were reckless in 

not knowing that the purpose of the inventory transactions was to improperly 

accelerate the recognition of LIFO liquidation gains, achieve net income targets, 

feign material improvements in liquidity, and otherwise appear to achieve analyst 



targets and other financial goals. As such, each knew or was reckless in not 

knowing that Delphi's original accounting for the transactions as sales, including 

the resultant reductions of inventory and increases to income and operating cash 

flow, was materially and intentionally false and misleading. 

Delphi's Disclosures Concerning the Bank and Consulting Company 
Transactions 

68. Delphi's 2001 disclosures concerning its fourth quarter and full year 

net income, Operating Cash Flow and inventory management were calculated to 

lead investors and analysts to believe that Delphi was generating cost-saving 

reductions in inventory levels and legitimate increases in operating cash flow and 

net income without giving insight into the contrived nature of the Bank and 

Consulting Company transactions. As a part of Delphi's January 17,200 1 

announcement of its results for the fourth quarter and full year 2000, Delphi falsely 

reported in the company's press release that "[dlue to a sharp and unexpected drop 

in fourth quarter vehicle volumes, we took immediate actions to reduce costs in 

line with resulting revenue declines," including the use of "aggressive inventory 

management, workforce adjustments and other cost reduction initiatives." 

Similarly, in a call with analysts the same day, Dawes explained that: 

[w]e also were able to in the quarter take advantage - and 
frankly one of the reasons why we were at the high end of the 
earnings range, we did benefit from inventory reductions . . . . 
We did always anticipate that we would see a slight [LIFO] 
benefit at the end of this year. It was about [$I 10 million more 



than we expected as a result of strong inventory reduction 
programs we had. 

In Delphi's Form 10-K for the period ended December 31,2000, Delphi also 

falsely attributed improvements to gross margin and net income as being the result 

of "aggressive inventory management." Dawes, Free and Marion were each 

involved in drafting or reviewing one or more of these disclosures. 

69. At no time prior to the Commission investigation that led to the filing 

of this Complaint (the "Commission Investigation"), did Delphi disclose publicly 

that a significant portion of the so-called "aggressive inventory management" was 

in fact attributable to financing transactions that would not allow for the removal of 

inventory from Delphi's balance sheet. In fact, by the time of the January 17 

earnings announcement, Delphi had already repurchased the Consulting Company 

inventory and would be repurchasing the Bank inventory within 12 days. Delphi 

also failed to disclose that approximately 66% of its fourth quarter cash flow 

improvement attributable to "inventory management" was the result of the Bank 

transaction. Finally, Delphi did not disclose that its year-end inventory 

transactions did not in fact result in "reduc[ing] costs"; rather, through the various 

fees it paid to the Bank, the Consulting Company and the third-party supplier 

financer, Delphi incurred approximately $4 million in additional and unnecessary 

costs. Dawes, Free, Blahnik and Belans knew or were reckless in not knowing 



that, as a result of these disclosures and omissions, Delphi's Form 10-K for 2000 

was materially and intentionally false and misleading. 

2001 Notes Offering 

70. On or about May 3 1,2001, in connection with an offering of notes 

registered under a Shelf Registration Statement filed with the Commission on 

Form S-3, Delphi issued an offering document that incorporated by reference 

Delphi's 2000 Form 10-K, including Delphi's fiscal year 2000 financial statements 

and disclosures. 

IT Service Provider Lump Sum Payment 

7 1. In the fourth quarter of 200 1, Delphi improperly recorded a $20 

million payment from the IT Company as income, even though it knew the 

payment was in substance a loan, because Delphi was required to repay the $20 

million to the IT Company, with interest. On December 2 1,200 1, Delphi and the 

IT Company entered into a new IT contract (the "New IT Contract"), pursuant to 

which the IT Company agreed to provide Delphi with certain services and 

manpower, and to facilitate certain third party payments, associated with the 

implementation of enterprise application software at Delphi. At the same time, the 

IT Company agreed to pay Delphi a $20 million upfront payment. 

72. At the time they signed the contract, Delphi and the IT Company 

agreed that Delphi would repay the $20 million to the IT Company over 5 years in 



monthly payments of $333,333.33. They also agreed that Delphi would pay 

interest on the $20 million, through an intentionally opaque scheme involving 

accelerated payments on other IT Company service invoices, and utilizing the 

same supplier finance program Delphi had improperly used in connection with the 

Consulting Company transaction. 

73. Under the structure agreed between the parties, the IT Company paid 

Delphi $20 million and Delphi simultaneously entered into the New IT Contract, 

under which it would pay the IT Company approximately $207 million over the 

course of five years, purportedly for software implementation services. However, 

the true value of the contract was approximately $187 million, with the additional 

$20 million included simply as a mechanism for Delphi to repay the upfi-ont 

payment. 

74. To compensate the IT Company for its interest costs on the $20 

million, Delphi agreed to pay certain invoices on another contract (unrelated to the 

New IT Contract) one month early. Delphi had the supplier finance company pay 

the IT Company early on invoices or portions of invoices with a total dollar value 

equal to Delphi's outstanding principal balance on the $20 million. Delphi then 

reimbursed the IT Company for the supplier finance company's discount. Only 

internal Delphi and IT Company documents reflect the fact that the purpose of this 

http:$333,333.33


this early payment arrangement was to compensate the IT Company for Delphi's 

use of the $20 million. 

75. It was widely known at Delphi, including by Dawes, Free, Rozanski 

and Kudla, that the $20 million would be paid to the IT Company. Dawes, Free, 

Director of Financial Accounting and Reporting Rozanski and IT Finance Director 

Kudla also knew or were reckless in not knowing that, because the $20 million was 

refundable, it would contravene GAAP to record the $20 million as an immediate 

reduction of IT expense instead of as a Delphi liability to the IT Company. 

Nevertheless, contemporaneous charts prepared andlor presented by Dawes 

showed that the $20 million in income was key to Delphi meeting its external 

analyst targets and that Delphi intended to take the $20 million as income. 

76. The IT Company had the opposite accounting goal, and one that was 

consistent with the true terms of the agreement between the parties: to defer the 

$20 million over the term of the New IT Contract. However, both Doyle, the IT 

Company executive with primary responsibility for delivering the New IT 

Contract, and Curry, an IT Company executive who reported to Doyle and had 

day-to-day responsibility for negotiating with Delphi, knew that Delphi's goal was 

to draft "vague" documents that would allow it to achieve its accounting goals. 

77. IT Company accounting personnel, the most senior of whom was U.S. 

GAAP Manager McDonald, were also involved in reviewing and approving the 



New IT Contract and the terms of the $20 million payment. In November 2001, 

McDonald was warned by another accountant at the IT Company that Delphi had 

"questionable accounting objectives," including an intention to "record the $20 

million as revenue." 

78. Delphi's auditor had advised Rozanski that, in order for Delphi to 

treat the $20 million as income, there would need to be a written agreement among 

the parties that made clear that the $20 million was not refundable and not tied to 

the New IT Contract. Accordingly, Rozanski directed personnel at Delphi to draft 

a side letter that was consistent with this guidance, even though she knew the 

guidance was based on the false premise that the $20 million payment and New IT 

Contract were unrelated. The side letter was drafted by Delphi and used 

intentionally vague, false and misleading language. Before the letter was executed 

by the IT Company, McDonald approved the intentionally vague, false and 

misleading language. 

79. On December 19,200 1, two days before the New IT Contract was 

signed, Delphi provided the IT Company with multiple different drafts of the side 

letter, suggesting different variations on language that Delphi believed would allow 

it to account for the $20 million as income. All of the drafts misrepresented the 

transaction. The key factors in determining the correct accounting for the $20 

million was, first, whether the payment was made in connection with new or past 



business and, second, whether or not the payment was refundable. Even though all 

parties to the negotiations, including Dawes, Free, Rozanski, Kudla, Doyle and 

Curry, knew that the payment was tied specifically to a new contract, Delphi 

proposed that the letters indicate that the payment was in connection with "ongoing 

and past business service relationships" or, at the very least, in connection with 

"ongoing business relationships." Moreover, even though all parties knew that 

Delphi was required to repay the $20 million to the IT Company, some of the draft 

letters characterized the payment as "nonrefundable." Finally, even though all 

parties knew that the payment was specifically tied to the New IT Contract, in all 

drafts of the letter, Delphi omitted any reference whatsoever to the New IT 

Contract. 

80. McDonald was asked by other personnel at the IT Company to 

consider the various versions of the side letter proposed by Delphi, including 

Delphi's suggestion that the payment be characterized as "nonrefundable" and 

Delphi's request that, if possible, the letter refer to the companies' "ongoing and 

past" relationships. Both of these characterizations were completely inconsistent 

with McDonald's understanding of the true terms of the transaction, based on his 

discussions with other IT Company personnel and his review of various 

documentation. They were consistent, however, with what the other IT Company 

accountant had told him earlier: that Delphi was looking for a way to record the 



$20 million as income. Despite this knowledge, McDonald only revised the draft 

documents to the extent necessary to obtain the approval of the IT Company's 

auditor on the IT Company's desired accounting for the $20 million payment. 

81. In a December 19 e-mail, McDonald explained to other IT Company 

personnel that he had discussed the $20 million payment with the IT Company's 

outside auditor and, based on that discussion, determined that the IT Company 

could defer the $20 million "provided it is signed and dated and payment is made 

at the same time that the [New IT Contract] is signed." He m h e r  instructed that 

the letter "cannot refer to past services" but indicated that the term "on-going 

relationship" was "alright" (even though he knew the payment related not to an 

ongoing relationship, but to new services to be performed by the IT Company). 

McDonald also recommended that the IT Company remove from the draft letter an 

explicit reference to the payment being "nonrefundable," but did not suggest that 

the companies make clear in the letter that the payment was in fact refundable. 

Finally, he did not suggest that any language be added to indicate that the payment 

was connected in any way to the New IT Contract. 

82. On December 21,2001, Doyle signed the final side letter on behalf of 

the IT Company. Although the letter was not identical to the letter McDonald 

approved, it contained the same material misleading statements and omissions. As 

a result of these misstatements and omissions, each company felt able to apply 



opposite accounting treatments to the $20 million payment. The IT Company 

chose to read the term "ongoing relationship" to be a reference to the New IT 

Contract and thus deferred the $20 million expense over time. Meanwhile, 

Rozanski falsely claimed that the term "ongoing relationship" was a reference to 

pre-existing business. Because of Rozanski's misstatements and because the side 

letter made no mention of the fact the payment was to be repaid or that the 

payment related to the New IT Contract, Delphi's auditor was persuaded that it 

was appropriate for Delphi to account for the $20 million as income. 

83. Despite McDonald's success in removing the term "nonrefundable" 

fi-om the letter, in the weeks after the letter was signed, the IT Company became 

concerned that, in part because the letter was deliberately vague and misleading, 

Delphi had not entered into any clear written obligation to repay the $20 million. 

In early 200 1, after discussion among the companies, Kudla approved a solution 

that was once again vague and misleading, but gave the IT Company the 

assurances it believed it needed. The solution was to enter into false "work 

orders." 

84. In the normal course of business, under the terms of the New IT 

Contract, Delphi would instruct the IT Company to perform work by negotiating 

so-called "work orders." These work orders would describe the nature of the work 

to be performed and the amount Delphi would pay the IT Company to perform the 



work. In connection with the $20 million, Delphi and the IT Company agreed to 

enter into "work orders" that purported to be for $20 million of "administrative 

services" that the IT Company would provide Delphi under the New IT Contract. 

In return for these purported administrative services, Delphi agreed to pay the IT 

Company $20 million over five years at a rate of $333,333.33 per month. In fact, 

the IT Company provided no administrative services under the work orders. 

Rather, the work orders were simply a mechanism for Delphi to pay $20 million to 

the IT Company without making it obvious that it was repaying the December 

2001 payment. One or more of the work orders was authorized by Curry for the IT 

Company and by a number of Delphi employees, including Free and Kudla. Curry 

knew, and Free and Kudla knew or were reckless in not knowing, that the true 

purpose of the work order was to facilitate monthly repayments of the $20 million. 

85. Delphi's original accounting for the $20 million payment as an 

immediate reduction in expense, rather than as Delphi's liability to the IT 

Company, violated GAAP. The $20 million of income Delphi reported as a result 

of its improper accounting for the payment was material, representing 

approximately 24% of Delphi's fourth quarter pro forrna EPS (Delphi had recorded 

certain restructuring charges in the fourth quarter of 2001 and reported pro forma 

net income to exclude the impact of these charges) and 6% of its full year pro 

forma EPS. In connection with its June 30,2005 restatement, Delphi has now 



accounted for the $20 million as a liability to the IT Company, rather than as a 

reduction in expense. 

86. Dawes, Free, Rozanski and Kudla each were active participants in the 

scheme to mischaracterize the $20 million lump sum payment as fourth quarter 

2001 income to Delphi. Dawes approved Delphi's entry into the $20 million 

payment transaction. Free approved Delphi's accounting for the transaction and 

also signed false work orders through which Delphi repaid the $20 million to the 

IT Company. Rozanski also approved Delphi's accounting for the transaction and 

suggested ways to draft the transaction documents in a way that would obscure the 

true substance of the transaction and allow Delphi to obtain the desired accounting. 

She also provided the December 21 side letter to Delphi's auditor knowing that it 

misrepresented the true terms and circumstances of the $20 million payment. 

Kudla actively participated in meetings and discussions leading to the signing of 

the New IT Contract and false $20 million payment side letter and then took a lead 

role in drafting and approving the false work orders. Finally, Dawes, Free and 

Rozansh reviewed, prepared andlor signed Delphi's Form 10-K for 200 1. At the 

time they each participated in the scheme, Dawes, Free, Rozanski and Kudla knew, 

or were reckless in not knowing, that the agreements and side letters between 

Delphi and the IT Company were intentionally drafted so that they did not reflect 

the true terms of the payment, for the purpose of and resulting in Delphi 



improperly accounting for and reporting the payment. These misstatements were 

reflected in Delphi's Form 10-K for 2001 and also incorporated by reference into 

offering documents filed by Delphi in connection with its 2003 notes and preferred 

securities offerings. 

87. Based on his conduct, as described above, McDonald knew or was 

reckless in his failure to know that his activity in connection with the $20 million 

lump sum payment scheme was part of an overall activity that was improper. 

McDonald, who is an expert in GAAP accounting, knew of Delphi's fraudulent 

intentions based on (i) his discussions with another accountant at the IT Company 

who informed McDonald of Delphi's "questionable accounting motives," 

including its plan to record the $20 million payment as income; (ii) his receipt of 

information from other IT Company personnel and his review of drafts of the side 

letter between the companies, that demonstrated that Delphi was proposing 

language for the side letter that falsely stated the terms of the transaction, in order 

to support Delphi's desire to account for the $20 million as income; and (iii) based 

on other documents that were provided to him by IT Company personnel that 

reflected the IT Company's understanding that Delphi desired $20 million that it 

could record as income in the fourth quarter of 2001. He substantially assisted in 

Delphi's fraud by approving language of an intentionally false and misleading side 

letter that was used to misrepresent the true nature of the $20 million payment to 



Delphi's auditor. In particular, while he removed language that he considered 

detrimental to the IT Company's accounting goals, he permitted the use of 

deliberately vague, false and misleading language that permitted Delphi to achieve 

its goal of accounting for the $20 million payment as income and also was used by 

Delphi to mislead its auditor about the true terms of the $20 million payment. 

2003 Notes and Preferred Share Offerings 

88. On or about July 22,2003, October 21,2003 and November 14,2003, 

in connection with offerings of notes and preferred shares registered under Shelf 

Registration Statements filed with the Commission on Form S-3, Delphi issued 

offering documents that incorporated by reference Delphi's Form 2002 10-K, 

including Delphi's financial statements for fiscal years 2000,2001 and 2002. 

Undisclosed Accounts Receivable Factoring; 

89. From at least 2003 to 2004, Delphi knowingly failed to disclose the 

full extent of its European Accounts Receivable Factoring program. By hiding a 

material portion of its European factoring, Delphi was able to materially 

misrepresent its Street Net Liquidity by up to $330 million. In addition, in at least 

one period, Delphi further manipulated its disclosure of the factoring in order to 

materially overstate its Street Operating Cash Flow by an additional $30 million. 

90. Factoring is a common source of financing where a company agrees 

to sell some or all of its accounts receivable, at a discount, to a financial-institution 



or other entity with the goal of obtaining the cash more quickly. Analysts view 

these off-balance sheet facilities like debt because they serve a financing function 

and often involve substantial recourse and indirect guarantees. 

91. During all relevant periods, Delphi's investors, analysts and rating 

agencies relied upon Delphi's reported Street Net Liquidity and Street Operating 

Cash Flow as important measures of Delphi's financial condition and performance. 

Delphi reported that Street Net Liquidity was a non-GAAP measure of Delphi's 

liquidity, calculated as total cash less the sum of total on-balance-sheet debt plus 

certain off-balance-sheet obligations, such as factoring and securitization programs 

that are not treated as debt for purposes of GAAP but are considered debt by rating 

agencies. Delphi reported that Street Operating Cash Flow was a non-GAAP 

measure of Delphi's operating cash flow, calculated as cash provided by 

operations, fi-om the statement of cash flows, plus pension contributions and 

restructuring payments, less capital expenditures, and further reduced by increases 

in off-balance-sheet obligations, such as factoring and securitization programs. 

92. To some employees at Delphi, the undisclosed factoring became 

known simply as the "secret" or "base level" factoring. Under the direction of 

Dawes and Blahnik, during the period 1999 through 2002, only factoring 

exceeding the base level was disclosed by Delphi. By late 2002 or early 2003, 

however, Dawes and Blahnik were advised that it was improper for Delphi to 



exclude the secret factoring from its disclosures. However, Dawes and Blahnik 

took no immediate steps to correct the issue. In fact, in the first quarter of 2003, at 

Blahnik's suggestion and with Dawes' knowledge, Delphi briefly and intentionally 

increased the hidden factoring, and decreased disclosed factoring, by $30 million. 

By doing so, Delphi was able to understate its incremental period-to-period change 

in accounts receivable factoring and thus cause an automatic $30 million or 

approximately 20% overstatement of reported Street Operating Cash Flow in the 

quarter. The overstatement was included in Delphi's earnings release, which was 

furnished to the Commission on Form 8-K. 

93. Discussions of whether and how to disclose the factoring continued at 

Delphi throughout 2003. Dawes ultimately decided that the factoring should be 

disclosed. However, after discussion with Blahnik and others, he decided the 

disclosure should be done in a way that would not be obvious to rating agencies. 

In particular, had Delphi disclosed all of the secret factoring immediately, it would 

have had the immediate result of decreasing Delphi's Street Net Liquidity by $300 

million. Accordingly, Dawes approved a plan where the factoring would be "bled 

in" over time. Dawes and Blahnik concluded that by disclosing only $35 million 

of factoring per quarter, the discrepancy would go unnoticed by the ratings 

agencies. Delphi finally started to bleed in the $35 million per quarter in the first 



quarter of 2004, more than a year after Dawes and Blahnik had been informed that 

it was improper for Delphi not to disclose the secret factoring. 

94. By October 2004, using its piecemeal disclosure scheme, Delphi had 

incrementally moved $105 million of the secret factoring into disclosed factoring, 

with $195 million of the factoring remaining undisclosed. By that time Delphi was 

in the midst of the Commission Investigation. Dawes, recognizing that Delphi's 

failure to fully disclose the factoring was inappropriate and, if discovered, would 

draw additional scrutiny to his conduct, directed that Delphi discreetly disclose the 

rest of the factoring in Delphi's next earnings release. The amount was described 

in the Net Liquidity section of Delphi's analyst presentation as part of a line item 

called "Other." In a January 20,2005 earnings call with analysts, Dawes described 

the "Other" line as relating to "some small capital structure items." He did not tell 

analysts that the "Other" line included the newly disclosed factoring. 

95. Delphi, Dawes and Blahnik failed to disclose the full extent of 

Delphi's Accounts Receivable Factoring Program with the intent and effect of 

overstating Delphi's Street Net Liquidity. From the fourth quarter of 2002 to the 

fourth quarter of 2004, Delphi materially overstated its Street Net Liquidity in 

amounts ranging from $195 million to $330 million and by percentages ranging 

from 7% to 1 1%. The misstatements of Delphi's Street Net Liquidity were 

reflected in Delphi's earnings release for the period ending December 3 1,2002, as 



furnished to the Commission on a Form 8-K filed January 17,2003 and in 

presentations made to Delphi investors and financial analysts in connection with 

Delphi's earnings releases for the periods ending December 3 1,2002, March 3 1, 

2003, June 30,2003, September 30,2003, December 3 1,2003, March 3 1,2004, 

September 30,2004 and December 3 1,2004. 

96. Delphi, Dawes and Blahnik also materially overstated Delphi's Street 

Operating Cash Flow by $30 million or approximately 20% for the period ended 

March 3 1,2003. This overstatement was reflected in Delphi's earnings release for 

the period ending March 3 1,2003, as furnished to the Commission on a Form 8-K 

filed April 16,2003, and in related presentations to Delphi investors and financial 

analysts 

97. On June 9,2005, Delphi issued a Form 8-K in which it acknowledged 

that it did not accurately disclose to credit rating agencies or analysts "the amount 

of sales of accounts receivable or factoring arrangements fiom the date of its 

separation fi-om [its former parent company] until year-end 2004." 

98. Dawes and Blahnik knew, or were reckless in not knowing, that for a 

number of years, Delphi intentionally hid material amounts of factoring from 

rating agencies, analysts and investors. They also knew or were reckless in not 

knowing that Delphi's eventual decision to disclose the factoring in small 

increments was made with the intention of hiding the prior existence of the secret 



factoring fiom rating agencies and of avoiding an immediate and material $300 

million decrease in Street Net Liquidity. They also knew or were reckless in not 

knowing that, in the first quarter of 2003, even after being told that the factoring 

must be disclosed, Delphi materially increased the undisclosed factoring to meet a 

quarterly Street Operating Cash Flow target. Finally, Dawes knew or was reckless 

in not knowing that Delphi's disclosure of the remaining factoring in 2005, in 

connection with Delphi's reporting of its 2004 financial results, was accomplished 

in a way that was intended to continue to hide the prior existence of the factoring 

from investors, analysts and rating agencies. Dawes and Blahnik also knew of and 

substantially assisted in the scheme to manipulate Delphi's reported factoring, 

Street Net Liquidity and Street Operating Cash Flow and, as a result, Delphi filed 

Forms 8-K on January 17,2003 and April 16,2003 that were materially and 

intentionally false and misleading. 

Delphi's Internal Control Failures 

99. As evidenced by the misconduct described in paragraphs 1 through 98 

above, at least for the periods 2000 and 200 1, Delphi had a system of internal 

controls that was not sufficient to detect violations of GAAP. Dawes, as chief 

financial officer, Free and Rozanski as members of the controllers' staff, and 

Kudla, as finance director for Delphi's IT department, each had direct 

responsibility for overseeing some or all aspects of Delphi's internal controls. 



Based on their conduct, as described in paragraphs 1 through 98 above, they each 

knowingly circumvented those internal controls. 

False Statements to Delphi's Auditor 

100. Battenberg, Dawes and Free each signed representation letters to 

Delphi's auditor dated October 1 1,2000, January 16,200 1 and January 16,2002, 

and Battenberg and Dawes each signed a representation letter to Delphi's auditor 

dated January 16,2003, that falsely stated that Delphi's 2000 and/or 2001 financial 

statements were fairly presented in conformity with GAAP. Moreover, 

Battenberg, Dawes and Free signed the October 1 1,2000 and January 16,200 1 

representation letters, and Battenberg and Dawes signed the January 16,2003 

representation letter, knowing the letters omitted material facts concerning the 

September 2000 warranty agreement. In addition, Dawes and Free signed the 

January 16,200 1 and January 16,2002 representation letters, and Dawes signed 

the January 16,2003 representation letter, knowing that the letters omitted material 

facts concerning the December 2000 Consulting Company inventory transaction. 

Finally, Dawes and Free signed the January 16,2002 representation letter, and 

Dawes signed the January 16,2003 representation letter, knowing that it omitted 

material facts concerning the December 2001 IT Company transaction. 



101. In addition, in communications with Delphi's auditor, Battenberg, 

Dawes and Free made materially and intentionally false and misleading statements 

and omissions concerning these schemes, as follows: 

a. In connection with the September 2000 warranty settlement, 

Battenberg, Dawes and Free failed to inform Delphi's auditor that: (i) the former 

parent company suggested that Delphi explore a basis for asymmetrical 

accounting; (ii) that the $237 million amount in the warranty settlement agreement 

was arrived at by a joint team of engineers and financial analysts from Delphi and 

the former parent company who had analyzed the causes and costs of each of 27 

warranty claims; or (iii) that the former parent company's early 2000 comments on 

the effect of 1998 healthcare assumptions were not requests or claims for 

reimbursement, but only intended to counter Delphi's claims that it should be 

reimbursed for the effects of other terms in the agreement that had turned out to be 

less favorable for Delphi; 

b. In connection with the December 2000 Consulting Company 

transaction, Free falsely denied to Delphi's auditor or, at least, failed to inform 

Delphi's auditor, that Delphi had entered an oral arrangement to repurchase the 

cores and batteries inventory or that Delphi had agreed to pay the Consulting 

Company a structuring fee. Free also failed to inform the auditor that Delphi self- 



financed the repurchase of the Consulting Company inventory using the third-party 

supplier finance program; and 

c. In connection with the December 2001 IT Company 

transaction, Dawes and Free failed to inform Delphi's auditor that the IT Company 

paid Delphi $20 million in return for Delphi signing the New IT Contract or that 

Delphi agreed to repay the $20 million to the IT Company over five years. 

FIRST CLAIM 

Violations of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act 
[15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] 

102. Paragraphs 1 through 10 1 are realleged and incorporated by reference 

as if set forth fully herein. 

103. From at least 2001 through 2003, Delphi, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, 

Blahnik and Belans, in the offer or sale of securities, by the use of the means or 

instruments of transportation and communication in interstate commerce or by use 

of the mails, directly or indirectly: employed devices, schemes or artifices to 

defraud; obtained money by means of an untrue statement of a material fact or an 

omission to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in 

the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or 

engaged in transactions, practices or courses of business which operated as a fraud 

or deceit upon the purchasers of such securities, as described above in paragraphs 1 

through 102. 



104. In at least 2003, Rozanski and Kudla in the offer or sale of securities, 

by the use of the means or instruments of transportation and communication in 

interstate commerce or by use of the mails, directly or indirectly: employed 

devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; obtained money by means of an untrue 

statement of a material fact or an omission to state a material fact necessary in 

order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which 

they were made, not misleading; or engaged in transactions, practices or courses of 

business which operated as a fraud or deceit upon the purchasers of such securities, 

as described above in paragraphs 1 through 1 03. 

105. Delphi, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, Rozanski, and 

Kudla knew or were reckless in not knowing of the facts and circumstances 

described in paragraphs 1 through 104 above. 

106. By reason of the activities described in paragraphs 1 through 105, 

above, Delphi, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, Rozanski, and Kudla 

violated Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. $77q(a)]. 

SECOND CLAIM 

Violations of Section lO(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule 
lob-5 Promulgated Thereunder [17 C.F.R. $240.10b-51 

107. Paragraphs 1 through 106 are realleged and incorporated by reference 

as if set forth k l ly  herein. 



108. From at least 2000 through 2004, as a result of the activities described 

in paragraphs 1 through 107, above, Delphi, Dawes and Blahnik, in connection 

with the purchase or sale of securities, by the use of the means and 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the mails, or the facilities of a national 

securities exchange, directly or indirectly: (a) employed devices, schemes or 

artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, 

practices or courses of business which operated as a fraud or deceit upon 

purchasers and sellers of securities in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange 

Act [15 U.S.C. €j78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 [17 C.F.R. €j240.10b-51, promulgated 

thereunder. 

109. From at least 2000 through 2002, as a result of the activities described 

in paragraphs 1 through 108, above, Battenberg, Free and Belans in connection 

with the purchase or sale of securities, by the use of the means and 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, the mails, or the facilities of a national 

securities exchange, directly or indirectly: (a) employed devices, schemes or 

artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state 

material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 

circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, 



practices or courses of business which operated as a fraud or deceit upon 

purchasers and sellers of securities in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange 

Act [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 [17 C.F.R. tj240.10b-51, promulgated 

thereunder. 

110. From at least 2001 through 2002, as a result of the activities described 

in paragraphs 1 through 109, above, Rozanski and Kudla in connection with the 

purchase or sale of securities, by the use of the means and instrumentalities of 

interstate commerce, the mails, or the facilities of a national securities exchange, 

directly or indirectly: (a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) 

made untrue statements of material fact or omitted to state material facts necessary 

in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which 

they were made, not misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices or courses of 

business which operated as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers and sellers of 

securities in violation of Section lO(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)] 

and Rule lob-5 [17 C.F.R. 8240.10b-51, promulgated thereunder. 

1 1 1. Delphi, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, Rozanski and 

Kudla knew or were reckless in not knowing of the facts and circumstances 

described in paragraphs 1 through 1 10 above. 

1 12. By reason of the activities described in paragraphs 1 through 1 1 1, 

above, Delphi, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, Rozanski and Kudla 



violated Sections 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 

thereunder [17 C.F.R. §240.10b-51. 

THIRD CLAIM  

Aiding and Abetting Violations of Section lO(b) of the Exchange Act [15  
U.S.C. §78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 Promulgated Thereunder [17 C.F.R. s240.10b- 

51 

1 13. Paragraphs 1 through 1 12 are realleged and incorporated by reference 

as if set forth fully herein. 

1 14. From at least 2000 through 2002, as a result of the activities described 

in paragraphs 1 through 113, above, Delphi in connection with the purchase or sale 

of securities, by the use of the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, 

the mails, or the facilities of a national securities exchange, directly or indirectly: 

(a) employed devices, schemes or artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements 

of material fact or omitted to state material facts necessary in order to make the 

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not 

misleading; or (c) engaged in acts, practices or courses of business which operated 

as a fraud or deceit upon purchasers and sellers of securities in violation of Section 

10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 [17 C.F.R. 

S240.10b-51, promulgated thereunder. 



1 15. Kudla, Bahadur and McDonald each knew, or were reckless in his or 

her failure to know, that his or her activities, as described in paragraphs 1 through 

114 above, was part of an overall activity by Delphi that was improper. 

1 16. Kudla, Bahadur and McDonald each knowingly provided substantial 

assistance to Delphi in the commission of these violations of Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act [I 5 U.S.C. $78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 [17 C.F.R. 5240.10b-51, 

promulgated thereunder, as described in paragraphs 1 through 1 15 above. 

117. By reason of the activities described in paragraphs 1 through 116, 

above, Kudla, Bahadur and McDonald, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange 

Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78t(e)], aided and abetted Delphi's violations of Sections 1 O(b) of 

the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $78j(b)] and Rule lob-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. 

FOURTH CLAIM  

Violations of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the  
Exchange Act [IS U.S.C. @78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules  

12b-20,13a-1,13a-11 and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. §$240.12b-20,  
240.13a-1,240.13a-11 and 240.13a-131  

1 18. Paragraphs 1 through 1 17 above are realleged and incorporated by 

reference herein. 

1 19. As alleged more fully above, Delphi filed with the Commission 

materially and intentionally false and misleading financial statements and 

disclosure on its Forms 10-K for its fiscal years ended December 31,2000 and 



December 3 1,2001, and on its Forms 10-Q for the fiscal quarters ended June 30, 

2000 and September 30,2000. In addition, Delphi filed intentionally false and 

misleading disclosures in earnings releases furnished to the Commission on Forms 

8-K on January 17,2003 and April 16,2003. 

120. Delphi also failed to make and keep books, records, and accounts that, 

in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflected the transactions and disposition 

of its assets. In addition, Delphi failed to devise and maintain a system of internal 

accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurances that transactions 

were recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 

conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, or any other applicable 

criteria and to maintain accountability for assets. As a result of the foregoing, 

Delphi violated Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act 

[15 U.S.C. $ 5  78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 

13a-11 and 13a-13 thereunder 117 C.F.R. $ 5  240.12b-20,240.13a-1,240.13a-11 

and 240.13a-131. 

FIFTH CLAIM 

Aiding and Abetting Violations of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) 
of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. @78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and 
Rules 12b-20,13a-1,13a-11 and 13a-13 thereunder [17 C.F.R. @240.12b-20, 

240.13a-1,240.13a-11 and 240.13a-131 

12 1. Paragraphs 1through 120 above are realleged and incorporated by 

reference herein. 

mailto:@240.12b-20


122. As alleged more fully above, Delphi violated Sections 13(a), 

13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $5  78m(a), 

78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11 and 13a-13 

thereunder [17 C.F.R. $5  240.12b-20,240.13a-1,240.13a-11 and 240.13a-131. 

123. Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Pasricha, Belans, Rozanski, Kudla, 

Bahadur, McDonald, Doyle, Curry and Marion each knew or was reckless in his or 

her failure to know, that his or her activity, as described in paragraphs 1 through 

122 above, was part of an overall activity by Delphi that was improper. 

124. Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Pasricha, Belans, Rozanski, Kudla, 

Bahadur, McDonald, Doyle, Curry and Marion each knowingly provided 

substantial assistance to Delphi in the commission of some or all of the violations 

by Delphi of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 

U.S.C. $ 5  78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a- 

1 1 and 13a-13 thereunder 117 C.F.R. $$ 240.12b-20,240.13a-1,240.13a- 1 1 and 

240.13a- 131, promulgated thereunder, as described in paragraphs 1 through 123 

above. 

125. By reason of the activities described in paragraphs 1 through 124, 

above, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Pasricha, Belans, Rozanski, Kudla, 

Bahadur, McDonald, Doyle, Curry and Marion, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $ 78t(e)], aided and abetted Delphi's violations of 



Sections 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 5 78m(a) and 

78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules 12b-20, and 13a- 1 thereunder [17 C.F.R. $5  240.12b-20 

and 240.13a-11. 

126. By reason of the activities described in paragraphs 1 through 125, 

above, Dawes, Free, Rozanski and Kudla, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78t(e)], aided and abetted Delphi's violations of 

Section 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78m(b)(2)(B)]. 

127. By reason of the activities described in paragraphs 1 through 126, 

above, Battenberg, Dawes, Free and Belans, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78t(e)], aided and abetted Delphi's violations of Rule 

1 3a- 13 [17 C.F.R. 5 240.1 3a- 1 31, promulgated under Section 13(a) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78m(a)]. 

128. By reason of the activities described in paragraphs 1 through 127, 

above, Dawes and Blahnik, pursuant to Section 20(e) of the Exchange Act [15 

U.S.C. 5 78t(e)], aided and abetted Delphi's violations of Rule 13a-11 [17 C.F.R. 

tj 240.13a- 131, promulgated under Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 

7 8m(a)]. 



SIXTH CLAIM  

Violations of Section 13(b)(5) of the  
Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78m(b)(5)]  

129. Paragraphs 1 through 128 above are realleged and incorporated by 

reference herein. 

130. Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, Rozanski and Kudla 

knowingly circumvented or knowingly failed to implement a system of internal 

accounting controls or knowingly falsified, directly or indirectly, or caused to be 

falsified books, records and accounts of Delphi that were subject to Section 

13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78m(b)(2)(A)]. 

13 1. By reason of the foregoing, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, 

Rozanski and Kudla violated Section 13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $ 

78m(b)(5)1-

SEVENTH CLAIM 

Violations of Rule 13b2-1 promulgated under the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. 
8240.13b2-11 

132. Paragraphs 1through 1 3 1 above are realleged and incorporated by 

reference herein. 

133. Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, Rozanski and Kudla, 

directly or indirectly, falsified or caused to be falsified, books, records, or accounts 

described in Section 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. €j78m(b)(2)(A)]. 



134. By reason of the foregoing, Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, 

Rozanski and Kudla violated Rule 13b2-1, promulgated under the Exchange Act 

[17 C.F.R. $240.13b2-11. 

EIGHTH CLAIM 

Violations of Rule 13b2-2 promulgated under the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. 
5240.13b2-21 

135. Paragraphs 1 through 134 above are realleged and incorporated by 

reference herein. 

136. Battenberg, Dawes and Free, directly or indirectly: (a) made or caused 

to be made a materially false or misleading statement to an accountant in 

connection with; or (b) omitted to state, or caused another person to omit to state, 

any material fact necessary in order to make statements made, in light of the 

circumstance under which such statements were made, not misleading, to an 

accountant in connection with: (1) any audit, review or examination of the 

financial statements of Delphi required to be made pursuant to Section 13(b) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $ 78m(b)]; or (2) the preparation or filing of any 

document or report required to be filed with the Commission pursuant to Section 

13(a) of the Exchange Act 115 U.S.C. 5 78m(a)] or otherwise. 

137. By reason of the foregoing, Battenberg, Dawes and Free violated Rule 

13b2-2, promulgated under the Exchange Act [17 C.F.R. $240.13b2-21. 



PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Commission respectfully requests that the Court enter a 

judgment: 

I. 

Permanently restraining and enjoining: 

(a) defendant Delphi, its officers, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, 

assigns and all those persons in active concert or participation with them who 

receive actual notice of the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and 

each of them from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, 

practices and courses of business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport 

and object, in violation of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] 

and Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13 (b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 

U.S.C. §§78j(b), 78m(a), 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules lob-5, 12b- 

20, 13a-1, 13a-11 and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5,240.12b-20,240.13a-1, 

240.13a- 1 1 and 240.1 3a-131, promulgated thereunder. 

(b) defendant Battenberg, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys 

and all persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual 

notice of the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them 

from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses 



of business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, in violation 

of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections 10(b) and 

13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. @78j(b) and 78m(b)(5)] and Rules 1 Ob- 

5, 13b2-1 and 13b2-2 117 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5,240.13b2-1 and 240.13b2-21, 

promulgated thereunder, and from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(a) 

and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $8 78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and 

Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13 117 C.F.R. §$  240.12b-20,240.13a-1 and 240.13a- 

131 promulgated thereunder; 

(c) defendant Dawes, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys and 

all persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of 

the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, 

directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses of 

business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, in violation of 

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections 10(b) and 

13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), 78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5, 

13b2-1 and 13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5,240.13b2-1 and 240.13b2-21, 

promulgated thereunder, and from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(a), 

13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $9 78m(a), 

78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1, 13a-11 and 13a-13 [17 



C.F.R. $8 240.12b-20,240.13a- 1,240.13a-11 and 240.13a-131, promulgated 

thereunder; 

(d) defendant Free, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys and all 

persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of the 

Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, directly 

or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses of business 

alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, in violation of Section 

17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections 10(b) and 13(b)(5) of 

the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), 78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5, 13b2- 1 and 

13b2-2 [17 C.F.R. §§240.lOb-5,240.13b2-1 and 240.13b2-21, promulgated 

thereunder, and from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) 

and 13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $8 78m(a) 78m(b)(2)(A) and 

78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. 240.12b-20, 

240.13a- 1 and 240.13a- 131, promulgated thereunder; 

(e) defendant Blahnik, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys and 

all persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of 

the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, 

directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses of 

business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, in violation of 

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections 10(b) and 



13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §$78j(b), 78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5 

and 13b2-1 [17 C.F.R. §$240.10b-5 and 240.1 3b2-11, promulgated thereunder, alid 

from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the 

Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $8 78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 

and 13a-11 [17 C.F.R. $8 240.12b-20,240.13a-1 and 240.13a-131, promulgated 

thereunder; 

(f) defendant Belans, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys and 

all persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of 

the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, 

directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses of 

business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, in violation of 

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections 10(b) and 

13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $§78j(b), 78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5 

and 13b2-1 and 132-2 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5 and 240.13b2-11, promulgated 

thereunder, and fiom aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(a), and 

13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $ 5  78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and 

Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13 [17 C.F.R. $8 240.12b-20,240.13a-1 and 240.13a- 

131, promulgated thereunder; 

(g) defendant Rozanski, her agents, servants, employees and attorneys 

and all persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual 



notice of the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them 

from, directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses 

of business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, in violation 

of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections lO(b) and 

13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), 78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5 

and 13b2- 1 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5 and 240.13b2-11, promulgated thereunder, and 

from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 13(b)(2)(B) 

of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 78m(a) 78m(b)(2)(A) and 78m(b)(2)(B)] and 

Rules 12b-20 and 13a-1 [17 C.F.R. $8 240.12b-20 and 240.13a-11, promulgated 

thereunder; 

(h) defendant Kudla, her agents, servants, employees and attorneys and 

all persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of 

the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, 

directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses of 

business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, in violation of 

Section 17(a) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. §77q(a)] and Sections 10(b) and 

13(b)(5) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. @78j(b), 78m(b)(5)] and Rules lob-5 

and 13b2- 1 [17 C.F.R. §§240.10b-5 and 240.13b2-11, promulgated thereunder, and 

from aiding and abetting violations of Sections 10(b), 13(a), 13(b)(2)(A) and 

13(b)(2)(B) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. $5  78j(b), 78m(a) 78m(b)(2)(A) and 



78m(b)(2)(B)] and Rules lob-5, 12b-20 and 13a-1 [17 C.F.R. $5 240.10b-5, 

240.12b-20 and 240.1 3a- 11, promulgated thereunder; 

(i) defendant McDonald, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys 

and all persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual 

notice of the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them 

from, directly or indirectly* engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses 
. . 

of business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, from aiding 

and abetting violations of Sections 1 O(b), 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange 

Act [15 U.S.C. $$78j(b), 78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules lob-5, 12b-20 and 

13a-1 [17 C.F.R. $5  240.10b-5,240.12b-20 and 240.1 3a-11, promulgated 

thereunder; 

(j) defendant Pasricha, his agents, servants, employees and attorneys and 

all persons in active concert or participation with him who receive actual notice of 

the Final Judgment by personal service or otherwise, and each of them from, 

directly or indirectly, engaging in the transactions, acts, practices and courses of 

business alleged above, or in conduct of similar purport and object, from aiding 

and abetting violations of Sections 13(a) and 13(b)(2)(A) of the Exchange Act [15 

U.S.C. $$78m(a) and 78m(b)(2)(A)] and Rules 12b-20, 13a-1 and 13a-13 [17 

C.F.R. $8 240.12b-20,240.13a-1 and 240.13a-131, promulgated thereunder; 

11. 



Ordering the Defendants Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, 

Rozanski, Kudla, and Bahadur to disgorge ill-gotten gains from the conduct 

alleged herein and to pay prejudgment interest thereon. 

111. 

Ordering the Defendants Battenberg, Dawes, Free, Blahnik, Belans, 

Rozanski, Kudla, and McDonald to pay civil money penalties pursuant to Section 

20(d) of the Securities Act [15 U.S.C. $77t(d)] and Section 21 (d) of the Exchange 

Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78u(d)]. 

IV. 

Ordering the Defendants Pasricha, Bahadur, Marion, Doyle and Curry to pay 

civil penalties pursuant to Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78u(d)]. 

v. 

Permanently barring defendants Battenberg, Dawes and Blahnik, pursuant to 

Section 2 1 (d)(2) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78u(d)(2)], from serving as an 

officer or director of any issuer that has a class of securities registered under 

Section 12 of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 7811 or that is required to file reports 

pursuant to Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. 5 78o(d)]. 

VI. 

Retain jurisdiction of this action in accordance with the principles of equity 

and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure in order to implement and carry out the 



terms of all orders and decrees that may be entered or to entertain any suitable 

application or motion for additional relief within the jurisdiction of this Court. 

VII. 

Granting such other and further relief as the Court may deem appropriate. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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Washington, D.C. 
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